Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-4-2009

Feasel v. Idaho Transp. Dept. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35720

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal from the district court's reversal of the Idaho Transportation Department's suspension of Petitioner-Appellee Feasel's (hereinafter "Feasel") driver's license following Feasel's rear-ending a vehicle, failing several field sobriety tests, and a test indicating fluoxetine ("Prozac") in his system. The Idaho Transportation Department ("Appellant") specifically appeals the district court's determination that as a condition of suspending Feasel's license, Appellant was required to present evidence establishing Prozac was an intoxicating substance that caused the impairments exhibited by Feasel, and that said evidence was not presented.

B. Course of Proceedings Below.

Feasel's driver's license was suspended after police responded to a report that Feasel had rear-ended a vehicle at the intersection of Broadway and Front Street, Boise, Idaho. Feasel conceded he had ingested multiple prescription medications and failed several field sobriety tests administered by Officer J. Tucker with the Boise Police Department. (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 003-004). Feasel was arrested for driving under the influence (DUI), and submitted to a breath alcohol test. That test resulted in .00% BAC. (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 004). It also transpired that Feasel was driving without privileges and he was cited accordingly. (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 005).

While an administrative license suspension (ALS) was served on Feasel, the suspension was cancelled pending the result of a urine test. (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 008). Subsequently, a report regarding a urinalysis performed by the Idaho State Police Forensic

Services Laboratory was received indicating the presence of fluoxetine, commonly known as Prozac, in Feasel's system. (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 009). Feasel was notified, on October 30, 2007, of an administrative license suspension and timely requested an administrative hearing. (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 011-015).

Hearing Officer Michael Howell held a telephonic hearing on November 27, 2007. Hearing Officer Howell upheld the suspension. (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 028-031). Finding that the condition of the driver at the time of the incident is all that is relevant, the Hearing Officer Howell held "[t]he officer gave numerous indications that the driver was impaired. Those observations combined with the results showing the presence of drugs were sufficient to establish a violation of I.C. §§ 18-8004 and 18-8002A." (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 030).

Feasel filed a timely Petition for Judicial Review. (Clerk's R. at 00004-00007; Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 038-041). Judge D. Duff McKee used a Memorandum Decision on September 2, 2008, reversing the order of the Idaho Transportation Department suspending Feasel's driving license and ordering the action be dismissed. (Clerk's R. at 00042-00050). Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on September 30, 2008, seeking review of the district court's decision. (Clerk's R. at 00051-00053).

C. Statement of the Facts.

Shortly before 7:00 a.m. on July 20, 2007, Feasel rear-ended a vehicle at the intersection of Broadway and Front Street in Boise, Idaho. Officers M. Chally and J. Tucker responded. Officer Tucker submitted an affidavit, indicating Feasel admitted to having taken Ambien CR, Lithium, Prozac and Wellbutrin. During the field sobriety tests conducted by Officer Tucker,

Feasel exhibited slurred speech and impaired memory, and Feasel failed the gaze nystagmus, walk and turn, and one leg stand tests. (Clerk's Exh. 1, Admin. R. at 003-004).

During the telephonic hearing held November 27, 2007, Feasel's daughter read the warning labels on Feasel's Ambien, Wellbutrin, Lithium and Prozac prescription bottles. As to Ambien, the evidence was that it caused drowsiness or dizziness, and Feasel had been warned that his ability to drive might be impaired. Feasel was cautioned to use care until he became familiar with its effects. (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 9, ln. 12-16). Feasel was warned a side effect of Wellbutrin was drowsiness, and was further warned to use care when operating a car. (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 10, ln. 10-13). Similarly, Feasel was warned Lithium had a side effect of drowsiness and to use care when operating a vehicle. (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 11, ln. 3-6). As to Prozac, Feasel was warned that taking the medicine "may lesson [sic] your ability to drive." (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 11, ln. 9).

It is undisputed Feasel had a valid prescription for the aforementioned drugs. (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 13, ln. 24). Feasel testified he had been on Lithium and Prozac for approximately three (3) years, but Ambien and Wellbutrin for only about a month. (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 14, ln. 20, through 15, ln. 6). Feasel claimed he had never noticed a problem in the past while taking the four medications. (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 15, ln. 7-8).

Feasel presented testimony from Loring Beals ("Beals"), a toxicologist, regarding the effects of Prozac. Mr. Beals opined that if a person is not reasonably certain of the effects of Prozac he or she should not drive. (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 21, ln. 1-6). Beals further opined that urine tests were generally useless in that they did not draw conclusions regarding quantitative amounts. (Clerk's Exh. 2, Tr. at 21-23).

It is undisputed Feasel struck another vehicle shortly before officers responded. It is undisputed Feasel exhibited slurred speech and poor memory. It is undisputed Feasel failed multiple field sobriety tests. It is undisputed there was no alcohol detected in Feasel's system. It is undisputed Feasel had ingested at least one (1) prescription drug, although he admitted to consuming up to four (4) prescription drugs. It is undisputed drowsiness is a side effect of Feasel's prescription medications, and that Feasel had been warned about the potential side effects while operating a vehicle. While these basic facts are undisputed, the legal conclusions to be drawn from the facts were the subject of the appeal to district court and are the subject of the present appeal.

D. Standard of Review.

The Idaho Administrative Procedures Act (IDAPA) governs the review of department decisions to deny, cancel, suspend, disqualify, revoke, or restrict a person's driver's license. Idaho Code §§ 49-201, 49-330, 67-5201(2), 67-5270. The district court was obligated to affirm the agency action except upon a finding that "the agency's findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or
- (e) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion."

Idaho Code § 67-5279(3).

In an appeal from a district court acting in its appellate capacity pursuant to the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act, the appellate court reviews the agency record independently of the district court opinion. Howard v. Canyon County Bd. of Comm'rs, 128 Idaho 479, 480, 915 P.2d 709, 710 (1996). The appellate court does not substitute its judgment for that of the agency regarding the weight of the evidence presented, but rather defers to an agency's findings of fact unless said findings are clearly erroneous. Idaho Code § 67-5279(1); In re Bowman, 135 Idaho 843, 25 P.3d 866 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing Castaneda v. Brighton Corp., 130 Idaho 923, 926, 950 P.2d 1262, 1265 (1998)). "In other words, the agency's factual determinations are binding on the reviewing court, even where there is conflicting evidence before the agency, so long as the determinations are supported by substantial competent evidence in the record." Archer v. State Dept. of Transp., 145 Idaho 617, 618, 181 P.3d 543, 545 (Ct. App. 2008).

The interpretation of a statute is an issue of law over which an appellate court exercises free review. Corder v. Idaho Farmway, Inc., 133 Idaho 353, 358, 986 P.2d 1019, 1024 (Ct.App. 1999). In reviewing a discretionary decision of a lower court, the appellate court must review the lower court's decision for an abuse of discretion. In its review, the appellate court must determine: "(1) whether the lower court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the lower court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to the specific choices before it; and (3) whether the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason." Sun Valley Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Idaho Power Co., 119 Idaho 87, 94, 803 P.2d 993, 1000 (1991).

П.

ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Whether the district court erred in finding no legal cause to believe that Petitioner-Appellee Feasel was under the influence of drugs or other intoxicating substances such that the Idaho Transportation Department was proper in suspending Petitioner-Appellee Feasel's driver's license pursuant to Idaho Code § 18-8002A(4).

Ш.

ARGUMENT

Suspending driving privileges in accordance with Idaho Code § 18-8002A "is a civil penalty separate and apart from any other suspension imposed for a violation of other Idaho motor vehicle codes or for a conviction of an offense." *In re Bowman*, 135 Idaho at 845, 25 P.3d at 868. At the administrative hearing, the burden of proof rests squarely upon the driver to provide specific enumerated grounds to vacate the suspension. *Kane v. State, Dep't of Transp.*, 139 Idaho 586, 590, 83 P.3d 130, 134 (Ct. App. 2003). A hearing officer is obligated to uphold the suspension, unless the hearing officer finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the driver has shown one of several grounds enumerated in Idaho Code § 18-8002A(7) for vacating the suspension. Those grounds include:

- 1. The peace officer did not have legal cause to stop the person;
- 2. The officer did not have legal cause to believe the person had been driving or was in actual physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of Idaho Code §§ 18-8004, 18-8004C or 18-8006;
- 3. The test results did not show an alcohol concentration or the presence of drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of Idaho Code §§ 18-8004, 18-8004C or 18-8006;
- 4. The test results for alcohol concentration, drugs or other intoxicating substances administered at the direction of the peace officer were not conducted in accordance with the

requirements of Idaho Code § 18-8004(4) or whether the testing equipment was functioning properly when the test was administered; or

5. The person was not informed of the consequences of submitting to an evidentiary test.

See Idaho Code § 18-8002A(7).

Simply put, "[i]t is unlawful for any person who is under the influence of ... drugs ... to drive or be in actual physical control of a motor vehicle within this state" Idaho Code § 18-8004(1)(a). When an individual shows an alcohol concentration of less than 0.08, "other competent evidence of drug use other than alcohol" is used in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant. Idaho Code § 18-8004(3). In the present case, there was a .00% blood alcohol content, but evidence of Prozac in Feasel's system. Feasel admitted to ingesting additional prescription medications. Feasel was under the influence of Prozac and/or the other prescription medications he conceded he ingested, to the extent that he struck another vehicle, exhibited poor memory, was confused, and failed multiple field sobriety tests. Having established these basic facts, Appellant was *obligated* to suspend Feasel's license. Feasel presented no evidence at the hearing to rebut the basic fact that he had consumed drugs and he failed the field tests for sobriety.

A. The district court effectively shifted the burden in license suspension matters from the driver to the Idaho Transportation Department.

The Idaho Legislature enacted Idaho Code § 18-8002A during the 1993 legislative session. The stated purpose of the legislation was to:

(1) Provide safety for all persons using the highways of this state by quickly revoking the driving privileges of those persons who have shown themselves to be safety hazards by driving with a blood alcohol content which exceeds the legal limit provided for in Section 18-8004, Idaho Code; and

- (2) To guard against the potential for an erroneous deprivation of the driving privilege by providing for an administrative hearing on the revocation, if requested, within seven days of service of the notice of suspension; and
- (3) To join with 31 other states in realizing a significant reduction in alcohol-related traffic fatalities through this cost effective legislation.

(H 252, 1993).

The intention of the legislation is clear that individuals who are a danger to the travelling public be removed from the road, whether that danger stems from alcohol use or drug use. The Idaho Court of Appeals has described the legislative intent as follows:

The purpose of the statute is to provide maximum safety for all persons using the highways of this state by quickly revoking the driving privileges of those persons who drive with a blood alcohol content which exceeds the legal limit provided for in I.C. § 18-8004. In addition, the statute was intended to deter driving while under the influence.

In re Bowman, 135 Idaho at 846-47, 25 P.3d at 869-70 (citations omitted).

As to the administrative license suspension, the ultimate finding of the driver's guilt or innocence on the DUI charge is not a factor.

The facts as found by the hearing officer shall be independent of the determination of the same or similar facts in the adjudication of any criminal charges arising out of the same occurrence. The disposition of those criminal charges shall not affect the suspension required to be imposed under the provisions of this section.

Idaho Code § 18-8002A(7).

At the administrative license suspension hearing, the results of any tests for the presence of drugs shall be admissible, as is the sworn statement of the arresting officer and the accompanying documents. The burden of proof is on the driver challenging the suspension. Idaho Code § 18-8002A(7); *Archer v. State Department of Trans.*, 145 Idaho 617, 620, 181 P.3d 543, 546 (Ct. App. 2008). In the present case, Appellant was presented with a sworn statement satisfying the statutory requirements. There was no evidence at the

license suspension hearing submitted to rebut the basic facts of diminished capacity and drug use. Therefore, whether Feasel understood he was under the influence or the amount of drugs in his system was not relevant as to a license suspension.

This statute has explicitly been found to be remedial in nature and not punitive. *State* v. *Reichenberg*, 128 Idaho 452, 915 P.2d 14 (1996). Hence, the portion of Idaho Code § 18-8004 dealing with competent evidence to find guilt or innocence has no application. The district court has essentially added a requirement that the Appellant establish, as a condition precedent, that the particular drug was not only intoxicating but it was intoxicating as to that driver. Further, the district court would prohibit the Appellant from relying upon an officer's sworn statement regarding indicia of intoxication as grounds for the determination that the drug was intoxicating as to that driver. Not only does this effectively shift the burden from the driver to the Appellant, it essentially rewrites the statute and makes it virtually impossible for the Appellant to suspend a license based on drugs or other intoxicating substances. Now, rather than relying on a sworn statement of intoxication and the presence of drugs on a test, the Appellant would be required to obtain the testimony of a toxicologist before a license could even be suspended. This rewriting of the statute is clearly in contravention of the legislature's intent and beyond the scope of the district court's authority.

B. The statute does not require Appellant to establish the quantity of drugs in a licensee's system.

The Idaho Transportation Department's obligations regarding administrative license suspensions are governed by Idaho Code § 18-8002A. Appellant is obligated to suspend a driver's license, upon:

receipt of the sworn statement of a peace officer that there existed legal cause to believe a person had been driving or was in actual physical control of a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, drugs or

other intoxicating substances and that the person submitted to a test and the test results indicated an alcohol concentration or the presence of drugs or other intoxicating substances in violation of section 18-8004, 18-8004C or 18-8006, Idaho Code.

Idaho Code § 18-8002A(4) (emphasis added).

When interpreting a statute, a court should construe the statute as a whole to give effect to the legislative intent. *In re Bowman*, 135 Idaho at 846, 25 P.3d at 869. The plain meaning of the statute shall be adopted, unless the plain meaning leads to absurd results. *Id.* The plain meaning of Idaho Code § 18-8002A(4) provides that upon a test establishing the *presence* of drugs and evidence that the driver is under the influence, a suspension is mandatory. In the present case, there was a test establishing the presence of Prozac, as well as indicia that Feasel was influenced by the drug (hitting another vehicle, failing field sobriety tests, and exhibiting confusion and poor concentration).

The State is not required to establish a quantity of drugs in a defendant's system in a prosecution for driving under the influence. State v. Lesley, 133 Idaho 23, 981 P.2d 748 (1999). Recently, the Idaho Supreme Court also noted "the State's test need only demonstrate the mere presence of drugs," not the amount of drugs. Reisenauer v. State Department of Transportation, 145 Idaho 948, 951, 188 P.3d 890, 893 (2008) (noting that while the amount of the drug is not required, the drug must be intoxicating).

C. The district court improperly determined that evidence pertaining to any drugs beyond fluoxetine (Prozac) was not relevant.

The district court determined that while evidence was offered regarding Ambien CR, Lithium, and Wellbutrin, "none of the other drugs were revealed in the laboratory test. The evidence pertaining to the other drugs, then, is not relevant here." (Clerk's R. at 00043). It is unknown whether these drugs had time to metabolize to the point where it could be found in

Feasel's urine at the time of the test. Feasel did not contend he was "only" affected by Prozac at the license suspension hearing. The hearing officer could not ignore the fact that Feasel specifically admitted under oath the ingestion of those drugs. The hearing officer properly considered all of the evidence before him, including the scientific evidence. The district court improperly determined the other drugs were not relevant to the license suspension hearing.

D. Feasel ingested intoxicating drugs prior to driving.

The district court concluded "[a]ll drugs are not alike" and the term "intoxicating substance" is not defined in the statute. (Clerk's R. at 00045). While the term "intoxicating substance" has not been defined, the Idaho Court of Appeals has previously held that lithium is a "drug" for the purpose of the statute prohibiting driving under the influence of an intoxicant. *State v. Goerig*, 121 Idaho 108, 822 P.2d 1005 (Ct. App. 1991). Mr. Goerig consumed four (4) glasses of beer, in addition to taking prescription medication to control his manic depression. *Id.* 121 Idaho at 111, 822 P.2d at 1008. Mr. Goerig declined to take a breathalyzer test, which was the subject of a separate appeal, and a jury found Mr. Goerig guilty of driving under the influence of drugs. *Id.* The court concluded "lithium is a drug for the purposes of I.C. § 18-8004(5)" and held "the fact that Goerig was legally entitled to take lithium because it had been prescribed to him is not a defense to a charge of driving under the influence of intoxicants." *Id.* 121 Idaho at 113, 822 P.2d at 1010.

The Florida District Court of Appeal addressed a case involving driving under the influence of prescription drugs, including fluoxetine (Prozac). *Hoffman v. State*, 743 So.2d 130 (1999). In *Hoffman*, the driver ran into a parked truck with its flashers on, the officer noted bloodshot, glassy eyes and slurred speech, and the driver failed various field sobriety

tests. While there was no evidence of alcohol use, a urine test revealed three (3) prescription medications, including Prozac, Soma and Xanax, and the driver was aware of the warnings not to operate a motor vehicle while using the medications. *Id.* 121 Idaho at 131. The testifying toxicologist stated that there may be no ill effects with the drugs taken in proper amounts, that if used to excess there may be the results noted by the officer, and that the urine test was unable to detect the quantity of the drugs in the driver's system. *Id.* The court noted:

The three elements of DUI are driving, being under the influence, and being impaired....[I]t is unnecessary for the toxicologist to be able to estimate the degree of impairment caused by the existence of drugs. Nor does the toxicologist have to testify as to the amount of the drugs in the person's system.

Id. (citations omitted).

The Idaho Supreme Court, in the recent decision of Reisenaur v. State Department of Transportation, supra, determined:

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