# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-29-2009

# Feasel v. Idaho Transp. Dept. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35720

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

#### ARGUMENT

## A. Introduction

Appellant is correct that the ALS program is remedial in nature, that there is ample legislative history to support construing its laws in favor of its salutary purposes, and that the burden of providing substantial evidence rests upon him. *In re Bowman*, 135 Idaho at 845, 24

-5-

P.3d at 868, *State v. Reichenberg*, 128 Idaho 452, 915 P.2d 14 (1996). However, to state that "The district court effectively shifted the burden in license suspension matters from the driver to the Idaho Transportation Department" mischaracterizes the record.

This wild statement appears to flow from a single, repeated procedural conflation, found throughout the department's brief. Over and over again arguments fail to distinguish the bifurcated, two-stage process of the ALS program:

- 1) The probable cause affidavit and the automatic suspension that follows, absent a hearing request<sup>2</sup>; and
- 2) The adjudicative phase involved in this case. § 18-8002A(7).

This case is about the contested case hearing phase only.

# B. Under § 18-8002A a Seized License Must be Returned on Substantial Evidence that Drug(s) were Not Intoxicating

## Reisenauer v. State Department of Transportation, 145 Idaho 948, 951, 188 P.3d 890,

893 (2008) is the controlling case for this controversy. It discusses why urine tests should require more scrutiny than they received in the examiner's decision, and explain why Judge McKee reversed that decision. In its first part, *Reisenauer* rejected the state's appeal by simply holding that no showing had been made that the Carboxy-THC metabolite was a drug. At that point its holding could have been limited. Surely the state will argue that everything thereafter was dictum. However, *Reisenauer*, 188 P.3d p. 892, states:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Kane describes the first stage like this: "If an evidentiary test of blood or urine was administered rather than a breath test, the peace officer or the department shall serve the notice of suspension once the results are received. The sworn statement required in this subsection shall be made on forms in accordance with rules adopted by the department. Upon receipt of such documentation from a law enforcement officer, the ITD must suspend the person's driver's license. I.C. § 18-8002A(4)(a)." [Emphasis added.]

# "The only issue, therefore, is whether the test results showed the presence of drugs *or other intoxicating substances*." [Emphasis added.].

Therefore, the driver respectfully requests the court reaffirm *Reisenauer's* further discussion about the meaning of the words "intoxicating" (in the various laws discussed). It is the key to this case.

The district court held that the examiner was bound to consider *all* the evidence placed before him in the evidentiary hearing, instead of simply relying upon the probable cause affidavit. Had the examiner found some causal connection between the "failed" drug test, or the drug Prozac itself and the driver's impairment, this case might be distinguishable from *Reisenauer*. But the district court, like this court in *Reisenhaur*, discussed why the law requires a nexus between any test disclosing a foreign substance and its influence on a driver. This further discussion explained the clear statutory requirements of the ALS program: that before a license can be taken away for failing a test, the test result itself must show a violation of §18-8004(a). It seems almost too obvious to belabor.

However, it is sometimes possible to ignore fine statutory definitions and directions in the quest for zealous and expansive applications of state power. This case is apparently an effort to re-argue against the clear direction of *Reisenauer's* second half – entitled "Application."

Reading <u>Idaho Code</u> §18-8002A, Subsection (4)(a) as was done by the examiner would override any expert, personal or other evidence offered to rebut any blood or urine test -- from an approved state laboratory – which disclosed the mere presence of "children's Tylenol," caffeine,

-7-

or ibuprofen, an antidepressant, or perhaps even an herbal remedies like Echinacea known for its medicinal properties.<sup>3</sup>

But the law as actually written requires several things: an evidentiary test result, and the additional clause after "presence or drugs or other intoxicating substances" says "in violation of section 18-8004...." That plainly requires findings that the drug was not just called a drug, and more than just that it was present: it must also be intoxicating. That is how a driver can violate §18-8004. It's not the only way,<sup>4</sup> but it's the only way a test result alone can show a violation, which it must as § 18-8002A is presently written.

DUI prosecutions, subject to rules of evidence and "gatekeeping" (see "C" below), are proper forums for proceedings involving drug impairment, as clear from <u>Idaho Code</u> § 18-8004(3), and the numerous authorities of Idaho and other jurisdictions cited by the state. Many drug-only DUI convictions have been upheld on facts nearly identical to the record in this case. Appellant's brief is replete with them. For reasons set forth below, <u>Idaho Code</u> § 18-8004A(4)(a) limits the inquiry to only whether a test is passed or failed. <sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Per se* prosecutions, permitted in criminal practice, rely on legislative definition of particular levels of alcohol, and no other substance. To depart from that clear legislative direction by permitting the ALS program to "make up" substances and tests that it feels might be "passed" or "failed" to justify suspensions would range far beyond the legislature's authority.

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  At the risk of repeating the discussion at fn.2 the driver here does not argue that drug test suspensions are always improper, or that a test showing presence of a drug can never <u>initiate</u> an administrative action. Indeed, the failure of appellant to distinguish the two stages of the ALS process leads to the confusion that somehow the ability to do so is at stake here. This case is only about a contested hearing, and what was proper and improper given the quantum of proof presented and the way it was handled. The department was fully entitled to begin proceedings. That process then became a contested case, with substantial evidence showing no connection between drug presence and intoxication.

## C. "Competent Evidence" can be a Vague Term, and Should be Construed and Resolved in favor of the Driver, not the State

Defendant submits that the term "competent evidence" is at best ambiguous, if not vague. Unrebutted toxicological testimony in this case established that urine tests in particular are meaningless if used to prove impairment or intoxication. Besides providing attractive though meaningless "junk science," they also conflict with more specific statutory levels of alcohol set for urine as the legislature has set.

#### 1. Evidentiary Principles are Important

Without some gatekeeping, this branch of the ALS statute is unreliable on as applied. It encourages administrative misuse of "scientific" evidence that actually proves nothing about impairment or intoxication. It is not "competent" because it logically<sup>6</sup> proves nothing about the crime. Simply because that result might be statutorily admissible in court, as the product of the state lab, does not make it relevant to nor even connected to a violation of law.

The Idaho Supreme Court has noted that constitutional challenges to statutes' vagueness may be either facial or as they may be applied to other persons or situations.. *State v. Cobb et al*; 132 Idaho 195 (1998, Fn.1).

A statute may be void for vagueness if it fails to give adequate notice to people of ordinary intelligence concerning the conduct it proscribes or if it fails to establish minimal guidelines to govern law enforcement or others who must enforce the statute. Korsen, 138 Idaho at 712, 69 P.2d at 132.

State v. Casano, 140 Idaho 461, 95 P.3d 79 (Ct. App. 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Judge McKee's discussion of the logical fallacy *post hoc ergo propter hoc* at Page 6 of his Memorandum Decision.

When does a person's drug use become a violation of the DUI law? Most people assume it occurs when there is competent evidence that *such use* caused impairment or was intoxicating. This should be the plain meaning of "competent evidence," and it's how § 18-8004(a) does in fact work under the authorities cited by appellant. The driver here does not argue that he could have been prosecuted criminally under § 18-8004 and all surrounding circumstances of his driving pattern, alleged admissions<sup>7</sup> and appearance to the officer.

However, the way the ALS program and its enabling statute<sup>8</sup> actually work, every chemical test that shows a urine sample tainted with any drug can properly, and indeed must, trigger a proceeding to begin suspension. See *discussion at fn.2*, supra.<sup>9</sup> If drivers allow seven days to elapse, that is that. No further inquiry is necessary. However, the mechanism for review – when taken – must be a meaningful test of officers' field suspicions. Mere presence of any drug triggering automatic suspensions of operators' driving privileges cannot be applied as a conclusive bar to substantial evidence that meets the drivers' burden of proof about whether the drug in question was – or was not – intoxicating.

#### 2. The Examiner Ignored the Most Probative, and Relied on the Least

The common legal definition of "competent" in the field of evidence applies to witnesses, not their testimony. Idaho Rules of Evidence, Rule 601 *et seq.* To stretch it to cover scientific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The officer's recollection that the driver "had knowledge that he was not to operate a motor vehicle while taking these medications," problematic as mind-reading on its face, is argued to support that there was a causal connection between the Prozac found in his urine and impairment. Even with citations of DUI cases sustaining convictions or suspensions of licenses from other states, it is a very thin thread upon which to hang a claim that there is "substantial evidence" in this record that it caused this driver's accident, behavior or other patterns that might well have supported a criminal prosecution. In any event, the stipulated exhibits dispel the question, as no discussion of Prozac occurs, and no admission by the driver as to any impairment caused by other drugs was made. <sup>8</sup> § 18-8002A, not §18-8004(a)

evidence like urine tests requires an even more strained reading of the rules of evidence, because scientific evidence is covered by Idaho Rules of Evidence, Rules 701 et seq. and presupposes the admitting foundation of expert witnesses. The ALS process, devoid of any further definition about the nature of "competent evidence," creates at least a procedural or evidentiary ambiguity.

The term "competent evidence" as used in Idaho Code § 8004(3), if imported from § 18-8004(3) to give content to §18-8002A, either conflicts with the specific definitions of "test" in § 18-8004, or is ambiguous, requiring strict construction *State v. Dewey*, 131 Idaho 846, 848,965 P., 2d 206, 208 (Ct.App.1988). <sup>10</sup> One way to resolve that is to require evaluation of good, wellfounded evidence over poor, if (as here) there is a choice. The expert here, without any rebuttal, opined that the urine test proved nothing.

It is not necessary to construe statutes if their meaning is clear and unambiguous. The reason the phrase "competent evidence" is ambiguous is that specific levels of bodily fluid levels of alcohol in urine have been set by the legislature. Other than alcohol levels, the law leaves open (very far open) the areas where "competent evidence" of a "test" may show violation of the law prohibiting driving while under the influence of "drugs or other intoxicating substances."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "When a court must engage in statutory construction, its duty is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. *State v. Shanks*, 139 Idaho 152, 154, 75 P.3d 206, 208 (Ct.App.2003). In so doing, we look to the context of the statutory language in question and the public policy behind the statute. *Id.; State v. Cudd*, 137 Idaho 625, 627, 51 P.3d 439, 441 (Ct.App.2002). When an ambiguous statute is part of a larger statutory scheme, we not only focus upon the language of the ambiguous statute, but also look at other statutes relating to the same subject matter and consider them together in order to discern legislative intent. *Shanks*, 139 Idaho at 154, 75 P.3d at 208; *State v. Paciorek*, 137 Idaho 629, 632, 51 P.3d 443, 446 (Ct.App.2002). Even when a statute is not ambiguous on its face, "judicial construction might nevertheless be required to harmonize the statute with other legislative enactments on the same subject." *Winter v. State*, 117 Idaho 103, 106, 785 P.2d 667, 670 (Ct.App.1989). We also are obligated to apply the doctrine of *lenity*, which requires courts to construe ambiguous criminal statutes in favor of the accused. *State v. Wees*, 138 Idaho 119, 124, 58 P.3d 103, 108 (Ct.App.2002) [Emphasis added.]" Id at p. 848

The structure of the DUI and ALS statutes clearly define the "test" [phrased in the singular] whose "failure" is subject to criminal prosecution under both "per se" and "competent evidence" standards. Specific, numerical and chemical concentrations are provided for blood, breath and urine – and only for alcohol, nothing else. The statute therefore provides no defined tests that can be passed or failed except for alcohol. *Expression unius est exclusio alterius* (the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another). See *Ace Realty, Inc. v. Anderson*, 106 Idaho 742, 749, 682 P.2d 1289, 1296 (Ct. App. 1984).

Drug evidence is logically and legally connected (because the legislature says it is) to intoxication or impairment. That is why initiating the proceeding in this matter was not wrong. But the responsibility of the department did not stop there. It had to give the finding of probable cause meaningful review. And that review had to fairly assess whether the test result in fact measured or causally showed intoxication or impairment.

When the driver proffered unrebutted evidence here, and no other causal evidence existed, the department's automatic suspension process should have yielded to the great weight of that evidence before it and the decision should have vacated the suspension. Failure to do so is merely to rubber-stamp the suspicions of a field officer, neglecting the critical fact-finding role of the hearing process.

Exclusion of non-causal "scientific" evidence, otherwise admissible, is discussed in *Swallow v. Emergency Medicine of Idaho*; 138 Idaho 589, 67 P.3d 68 (2003), which held mere coincidence is not "competent" to support the causation element of plaintiff's claim. See discussion at fn.6 above. Without the connection of causation, expert testimony is simply inadmissible, irrelevant and "not competent." Similar restrictions should be demanded of material used by administrative tribunals, especially when their processes are automatically triggered by any lab report showing "drugs."

Hearing examiners must be gatekeepers of "junk science" and other material not logically connected to violation of the law. That is their legal responsibility in the ALS suspension context, because there is no other protection other than judicial review.

Relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative force is outweighed by unfair prejudice. Idaho Rules of Evidence, Rule 403. Competency (if applicable to evidence, as

-12-

opposed to witnesses) also requires some gate keeping as to reliability. Comment to Idaho Rules of Evidence, Rule 601 (1), pp. 2-3, *State v. Iwakiri*, 106 Idaho 671, 682 P.2d 571 (1984). Had the examiner in this case considered the unrebutted evidence of the toxicologist, he could not have found that Petitioner "failed" his urine test simply because Prozac was present. His reliance instead upon other facts apparent to the arresting officers did not discharge his responsibility to determine passage or failure of the test – his statutory responsibility under <u>Idaho Code</u> § 18-8002A.

"This Court reaffirms that the appropriate test for measuring the scientific reliability of evidence is I.R.E. 702. (footnote omitted)". *State v. Gleason*; 123 Idaho 62 844 P.2d 691 (2002), discussing *State v. Garrett*, 119 Idaho 878, 811 P.2d 488 (1991). The per se prong of §18-8004 specifically quantifies certain concentrations of alcohol in breath, blood and urine as per se violations of law, *State v. Hardesty*, 136 Idaho 707, 39 P.3d (Ct. App. 2002). Other measurements of other substances, lacking that per se imprimatur of the legislature, must therefore create only a rebuttable inference of influence or intoxication, not a conclusive fact.

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